THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000054

RECEIVED
Nov 23 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Noel Owens,.....Appellant,

v.

Mountain Air Heating & Cooling, South Market Real Estate, Demetra Caldera, and
Ronald Gilmer, Defendants,

Of whom South Market Real Estate and Demetra Caldera are the.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment because the court concluded Appellant had released a claim that had not yet come into being at the time the release document was signed?**
- II. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment on the basis that the Appellant's claim was not beyond the scope of the release language at issue?**
- III. Did the lower court err in finding that summary judgment was proper on the question of whether Respondent Caldera was an agent of Respondent South Market?**
- IV. Did the lower court err in finding that Appellant was not entitled to a jury trial on the remainder of the Respondents' claims?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Noel Owens (hereinafter “Owens”), brought suit against Mountain Air Heating & Cooling (hereinafter “Mountain Air”), South Market Real Estate (hereinafter “South Market”), Demetra Caldera (hereinafter “Caldera”), and Ronald E. Gilmer (hereinafter “Gilmer”), making claims relating to representations concerning the state and soundness of the heating and air conditioning system at a house she purchased from Gilmer. (R. pp. 10-18.) As to Caldera and South Market, the complaint alleged that Caldera, working for realty company South Market, was Owens’ realtor and materially misrepresented the condition of the heating and air conditioning system of a house that Owens bought, relying on that misrepresentation. (R. pp. 11-12.) The complaint alleged claims that Caldera and South Market violated their agency duties to Owens, engaged in fraud, constructive fraud, and negligent misrepresentation, violated S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-65 (hereinafter “the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act”), and violated the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.* (R. pp. 12-17.) Defendants Caldera and South Market are the Respondents in this appeal.

Caldera and South Market made motions for summary judgment, arguing that Owens released these claims upon signing a document containing release language on April 3, 2015. (R. pp. 44-71.) Following a hearing on the matter on October 17, 2019, the lower court made an order granting both motions for summary judgment, finding that Caldera was not an agent of South Market, that Owens prospectively released her claims against the Respondents, that Owens’ claims against Caldera and South Market fell within the scope of the release and indemnification language, and that Owens was not entitled to a jury trial on Respondents’ claims against her. (R. pp. 1-5.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Owens engaged Caldera to act as her real estate agent in purchasing a home. (R. p. 10.) At all times until after being sued in this case, South Market held Caldera out to be its agent. (R. pp. 11, 118-19.) Based on this representation and Owens' reasonable belief in that representation, Owens signed up with South Market. (R. pp. 118-19.) While Owens discovered the subject property at 8025 Nightingale Drive, Columbia, South Carolina, herself, she nevertheless asked Caldera to arrange a viewing and the eventual sale of the home to her. (R. p. 11.) Owens signed up to buy the subject property on April 12, 2015. (R. p. 119.)

Caldera hired Respondent Mountain Air to perform an inspection on the system in the subject property. (R. pp. 11, 122.) Following the inspection, Caldera represented to Owens that "[t]he heating and air look[ed] good[.]" (R. p. 121.) Neither Caldera, South Market, nor Gilmer, at any point relevant to this case, disclosed any concerns regarding the heating and air system. (R. p. 11.) Mountain Air also represented that the system was fine. (R. pp. 12, 122.) Despite these assurances, numerous problems with the heating and air system arose shortly after Owens' purchase of the home. (R. p. 12.) Owens requested another inspection by another company, which found the following:

The condenser is extremely dirty and the evaporator coil is dirty. The unit top is missing insulation and the compressor has weak valves. This system has multiple issues and is not cooling or heating properly at this time. The gas line is improperly installed. The gas line is in contact with the ground and is supposed to be either 12" above ground or 18" below. That code precedes 1999 when this unit was manufactured. Code requires that gas line be hard pipe through unit casing, this system has flex gas line through casing. Numerous sections of supply ducts are missing insulation. The main supply and return trunk lines need to be replaced and hung off the ground. Shipping holes in [system's] base should be filled to prevent rodent infestation under house. Flashing should be waterproof to keep duct insulation dry and intact Air conditioning duct supplies have

always been required to be insulated and ductwork has never been allowed to be in contact with the ground. The gas line issues on this property were not up to code at the time of installation.

Due to the age and condition of the unit, we recommend the unit be replaced and that duct work be repaired to meet code requirements. This duct system is not that old but was improperly installed.

(R. pp. 12, 127.) Mountain Air, Gilmer, Caldera, and South Market failed to inform Owens of any of these issues, and Owens ultimately had to replace the system altogether. (R. pp. 12, 119-20.) The new unit cost about \$8,400.00. (R. p. 120.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCPP. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that:

summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.

Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing Spencer v. Miller, 259 S.C. 453, 192 S.E.2d 863 (1972)).

“All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of

Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 120, 542 S.E.2d 736, 738 (Ct. App. 2001); Hall v. Fedor, 349 S.C. 169, 173-74, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 2002)) (internal citations omitted). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (2008) (citing Wilson v. Style Crest Products, Inc., 367 S.C. 653, 656, 627 S.E.2d 733, 735 (2006)).

When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.

Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008) (citing David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006); Rule 56(c), SCRCP) (internal citations omitted).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-03 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. Id. at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

ARGUMENT

I. A release signed on April 3, 2015 could not have released a claim that did not arise until April 13, 2015.

To hire South Market and Caldera, Owens signed a document stating that she released them from claims relating to the “recommendation of and selection of inspectors, contractors, and service providers[,]” to “the acts, claims, performance, and omissions of selected inspectors, contractors, and service providers[,]” and to “the verification of property information.” (R. p. 53.) Owens signed this document on April 3, 2015. (R. p. 53.) On April 13, 2015, Mountain Air, as chosen and ordered by Caldera (R. p. 122), performed an inspection of the heating and air system. (R. p. 119.) Caldera then represented to Owens that “[t]he heating and air looks good[.]” (R. p. 121.) However, after hiring other inspectors and receiving a report that was actually accurate, Owens discovered that the heating and air system did not work at all and had to be replaced in its entirety. (R. pp. 119, 127.)

The general rule is that a release does not operate to apply to and get rid of claims that have not yet arisen when the release is signed. Gardner v. City of Columbia Police Dept., 216 S.C. 219, 223, 57 S.E.2d 308, 310 (1950). Moreover, “[a] ‘general release’ is an understood term under traditional contract interpretation: it . . . ordinarily covers all claims and demands due *at the time of its execution*, and within contemplation of the parties.” Doe v. Spartanburg County School District Three, 314 F.R.D. 174, 179 (D.S.C. 2016) (emphasis added). So, analysis is two-fold: we have to look at the claims and demands due at the time the document was executed, and we have to determine whether those claims and demands were within contemplation of both of the parties.

To the first prong, Owens' claims that arose on April 13, 2015, did not and could not have been released ten days earlier, on April 3, 2015 when Owens signed the document. It was not possible for that claim to have existed when the parties signed this document.

The lower court's order, however, does not reach this conclusion, because it does not apply this component of the rule and does not provide any reason why the general rule regarding applicability of releases would not apply here. The lower court, rather, seems to jump to the second prong, stating that "the terms of both the disclaimer and release of liability are clear" and that Respondents "make[] no warranties as to the reliability of any of the inspectors, contractors, or service providers." (R. p. 3.) Even if this could be read to contemplate releasing claims that had not yet arisen, the lack of evidence in the record to the effect that this is what was intended reveals a question of fact about whether this is so. That question of fact precluded summary judgment. Englert, 377 S.C. at 133-34.

The conclusion that this language was intended to release prospective claims with regard to the *Respondents'* representations is far from clear. The lower court's determination otherwise cannot stand for at least two reasons. First, the release language expressly only applies to "the acts, claims, performance, and omissions of *selected inspectors, contractors, and service providers*[,] and not of either Respondent. (R. p. 53.) Accordingly, as detailed below, the language does not apply to direct representations by the Respondents about the condition of the property *at all*, let alone claims concerning representations the Respondents had not yet made. Second, to conclude that the language is "clear" in its application to claims against the Respondents under the summary judgment standard assumes a clarity that is not present in the record, certainly not when viewed in the light most favorable to Owens. The lower court could have (and was legally obligated to) read the plain language of the release

document in the light most favorable to Owens. In doing so, the court would have seen that it does not cover nor even mention direct representations by the Respondents about the condition of the property. Caldera's representation, viewed in the light most favorable to Owens, did not verify information about the property; rather, it was a direct misrepresentation about the condition of the property. (R. p. 121.) If Caldera knew the condition of the property, this misrepresentation was willful, and, if she did not know the condition of the property, this misrepresentation was negligent. As pointed out at the hearing on these motions, Caldera did not say that she was told that the heating and air system looks good. (R. p. 10 ln. 11-12, p. 15 ln. 8-12, p. 121.) She made an affirmative representation that it did look good. R. pp. p. 10 ln. 11-12, p. 15 ln. 8-12, p. 121.) This is more than the scintilla of evidence Owens needed to show to require the court to deny these motions for summary judgment. The lower court seemed to think that because Caldera's email *could* be interpreted as merely relaying what the HVAC inspector told her, that is how it must be interpreted. The lower court's analysis turned the summary judgment standard on its head. See, e.g., Nelson, 362 S.C. at 5.

There is no language in the release document nor any facts in the record that would support the determination that the rule noted in Gardner does not apply to this case, nor is there any language that even suggests that it was within either party's contemplation that the language apply prospectively or apply to the Respondents' direct representations about the condition of the property. The court's conclusion that it was clear the parties intended to release *any* claim – let alone prospective claims that were not in existence at the time the release was signed – arising from Respondents' misrepresentations was an inference drawn unreasonably and directly in favor of the Respondents, not Owens. This was impermissible. See, e.g., id.

II. Appellant’s claims are beyond the scope of the language set out in the release and indemnification document.

The lower court found that “claims against [South Market] and [Caldera] stem from what [Owens] alleges was a negligent inspection performed by Defendant Mountain Heating and Air[.]” (R. p. 3.) First, this misstates Owens’ claims. The claims against Caldera and South Market stem from false representations that Caldera made as an agent of South Market, independently and apart from Mountain Air’s inspection and its findings. (R. p. 121.)

The release and indemnification language in the document states that it applies to the “recommendation of and selection of inspectors, contractors, and service providers[.]” to “the acts, claims, performance, and omissions of selected inspectors, contractors, and service providers” and to “the verification of property information.” (R. p. 53.) Nothing in this language applies to representations or claims made by Caldera and South Market. Caldera is not a “selected inspector[], contractor[], [or] service provider[][,]” and her affirmative, false representation to Owens that “[t]he heating and air looks good” did not have anything to do with the “recommendation of and selection of inspectors, contractors, and service providers” or verification of property information.” (R. pp. 53, 121.) Owens’ causes of action against Caldera and South Market did not fall within the scope of the release and indemnification language.

Even if the language of the document did cover the misrepresentation, however, the attempt at creating an indemnification obligation would fail as a matter of law, and Owens would not be obligated to indemnify Caldera and South Market. “[U]nder South Carolina . . . law, a contract of indemnity will not operate to indemnify the indemnitee against losses for *its own negligence* unless the intention is expressed in ‘clear and unequivocal terms.’” Hazel v. Blitz U.S.A., Inc., 425 S.C. 361, 372, 822 S.E.2d 338, 344 (Ct. App. 2018) (citing Fed. Pac.

Elec. v. Carolina Prod. Enters., 298 S.C. 23, 26, 378 S.E.2d 56, 57 (Ct. App. 1989)) (emphasis added). In Hazel, the court found that there was not “a clear and unequivocal expression of an intention to indemnify [the defendant] for its own negligence.” Id. Rather, the indemnity agreement in that case “d[id] not mention negligence at all and [the court could not] otherwise discern an intent to indemnify [the defendant] for its own wrongdoing[.]” Id.

Here, there is no evidence in the record to support the idea that the parties intended the indemnity clause operate to indemnify Caldera and South Market for their own negligence. The release language makes no mention of representations, acts, claims, performance, or omissions on the part of Caldera or South Market. (R. p. 53.) Just as in Hazel, the document makes no mention of negligence on the part of Caldera or South Market. There are no “clear and unequivocal terms” that would warrant the conclusion that the parties intended to release Caldera or South Market from any claim arising from direct misrepresentation of the condition of the property. Hazel, 425 S.C. at 372.

Consistently with the summary judgment standard, the court *had* to construe the language of the release and indemnification document in the light most favorable to Owens, drawing every reasonable inference in her favor. Respectfully, the court did not do that. That is reversible error.

III. There was evidence in the record from which a factfinder could reasonably conclude that Caldera was an agent of South Market.

The court states in its order that “at all times material to the sale, Defendant Caldera was an independent contractor or Defendant South Market’s ‘licensee.’” (R. p. 3.) Viewing the record in the light most favorable to Owens, as is required, there is evidence in the record that this conclusion is incorrect. That precludes summary judgment on this point.

In South Carolina, “[a]n agent is one appointed by a principal as his representative and to whom the principal confides the management of some business to be transacted in the principal’s name, or on his account, and who brings about or effects legal relationships between the principal and third parties.” Peeples v. Orkin Exterminating Co., 244 S.C. 173, 180, 135 S.E.2d 845, 848 (1964). “Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the principal’s behalf and subject to the principal’s control.” Froneberger v. Smith, 406 S.C. 37, 49, 748 S.E.2d 625, 631 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006)).

Moreover, “[a]gency is a question of fact.” Id. at 49 (quoting Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket, Inc., 282 S.C. 220, 226, 317 S.E.2d 748, 752 (Ct. App. 1984)). “Usually, whether an agency relationship exists and the scope of the alleged agent’s authority are questions of fact for the jury.” Holmes v. McKay, 334 S.C. 433, 439, 513 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing American Fed. Bank v. Number One Main Joint Venture, 321 S.C. 169, 173-74, 467 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1996); Hiott v. Guaranty Nat’l Ins. Co., 329 S.C. 522, 530, 496 S.E.2d 417, 421 (Ct. App. 1997)). An agency relationship does not require “express appointment and acceptance” to be created; rather it “may be, and frequently is, implied from the words and conduct of the parties and the circumstances of the particular case.” Id. (quoting City of Greenville v. Washington Am. Baseball Club, 205 S.C. 495, 504-05, 32 S.E.2d 777, 780-81 (1945); Fuller v. Eastern Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 240 S.C. 75, 83, 124 S.E.2d 602, 606 (1962)). “The agent must have assumed to represent the principal and to have performed the acts in his name and on his behalf.” Id. at 440. Parties may have an agency relationship even where they

have expressly agreed to the contrary. Fernander v. Thigpen, 278 S.C. 140, 143, 293 S.E.2d 424, 426 (1982).

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