THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000054

RECEIVED

Dec 11 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Noel Owens..... Appellant

v.

Mountain Air Heating & Cooling, South Market Real Estate, Demetra Caldera, and Ronald Gilmer,
Defendants,

Of Whom South Market Real Estate and Demetra Caldera are Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SOUTH MARKET

Margaret A. Collins
Elizabeth D. Moore
Palmetto State Law Group, LLC
2241 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC 29210
meg@pslawsc.com
lizzy@pslawsc.com

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

Respondent South Market's Disclaimer is similar to Huckaby, Maybank, and McCune. It is prospective and seeking to release liability for a future transaction. Respondent avers that language taken from Doe and Gardner to the case at hand is misplaced and strains a holding in caselaw not applicable to the situation at hand. The release that Respondent South Market utilized was a release in contemplation of a future transaction – the selection and purchase of a residential property. While

the transaction was not an activity involving an element of danger like in Huckaby and McCune, it was a transaction of a more financial nature, as in Maybank.

Respondent South Market acknowledges that issues of public policy and unconscionability were looked at in Respondent Caldera's brief and in the case law of Huckaby, McCune, and Maybank. However, this Respondent avers that these issues were not raised by Appellant at any time in the Civil Litigation, nor in the Motion to Reconsider. As such, Respondent South Market does not believe these issues are preserved for appeal. However, the effects on public policy if this Court adopted Appellant's view would be far-reaching and deserves scrutiny. Further, Respondent South Market joins in Respondent Caldera's arguments that the prospective release does not fail the two tests used to review these types of releases. The disclaimer signed by Appellant did not violate any notions of public policy, and in fact, specific provisions of the statutory scheme governing real estate professionals supports the Disclaimer. Further, the Disclaimer is not unconscionable given that it was contained on a single sheet of paper and there was no element of surprise. As Respondent Caldera stated in her brief on page 10, "The terms are routine in real estate agent representation agreements and the homebuying process in general and exist to simply protect real estate agents from acts of third parties that are beyond their control." This also appears consistent with legislative intent established in S.C. Code Ann. §27-50-80 (1976), wherein the purchaser of real estate's obligation to inspect property and the listing and selling agent specifically have no such duty.

Further, Respondent again reiterates the public policy argument that the effect on commerce if one was unable to limit liability would be unreasonably restrained. In the case at hand, a broker, working for a relatively small commission compared to the purchase price and paid by the seller, would not undertake the liability of the total transaction based on the compensation paid without some limitation of liability. Further, South Market Carolina has always had a broad policy of *caveat emptor* relating to the second-market real estate industry, albeit subject to real estate disclosure laws.

Adoption of the interpretation proffered by Appellant would, in fact, overturn this approach and allow not only the seller to be liable, but also third-party inspectors, brokers and those similarly situated, liable for the entire amount of the transaction. Again, the effect of Appellant's construction of waivers and releases not being applicable in a prospective manner would severely affect health care, financial advising, and many other industries. Standard industry waivers and liability limitations would severely be uprooted, if the interpretation of releases proffered by Appellant was adopted by this Court.

II. The trial court did not err in finding that Appellant's claim fell squarely within the scope of the Disclaimer and Release.

A party who asserts claim for negligent misrepresentation must show that his reliance on misrepresentation was reasonable and that he actually relied upon the statement. Further, no liability accrues for casual statements, or matters which plaintiff could ascertain on his own in exercise of due diligence. *Harrington v. Mikell*, 321 S.C. 518, 522 (Ct.App.,1996), citing *O.C. Gruber v. Santee Frozen Foods, Inc.*, 309 S.C. 13 (Ct.App.1992). In *Harrington*, the Court of Appeals upheld summary judgment for a real estate broker failing to disclose a party did not, in fact, have the requisite Power of Attorney or the right to sell property. *Harrington* specifically holds that, although brokers have a duty to avoid fraudulent conduct and misrepresentation, they do not owe a generally duty to verify information. Absent a showing of bad faith by petitioner or evidence of knowledge of the falsity of the representation, summary judgment is proper in favor of a broker. Most importantly, the *Harrington* Court holds that the judge did not improperly rule on and decided contested issues of material fact. The Court specifically held that the analysis and finding no evidence of bad faith is dispositive. This is consistent with the case at bar. There is no evidence of bad faith, misrepresentation or fraud, other than a blanket allegation of fraud and misrepresentation

by Appellant that is not supported by any facts in the record. As such, the granting of Summary Judgment, as to Caldera and South Market was proper.

Appellant further argues that the Disclaimer did not apply to any representations by Respondent Caldera. Specifically, Appellant claims Respondent Caldera's representations were not verifying information about the property from the HVAC inspector, but rather claims it is a direct misrepresentation by Respondent Caldera about the condition of the property by Caldera herself, but does not cite any supporting facts of this allegation. In turn, this alleged misrepresentation fell outside the scope of the Disclaimer. There is no evidence in the record that Respondent Caldera knew of any falsity of any statement or that Caldera made any statements *sue sponte* and independent of Mountain first indicating such a condition. Since the statement about the HVAC being "good" was established in the record as having actually been made by Mountain, the only other statement at issue would be Respondent Caldera's email indicating "the inspector says it is well taken care of" (sic) as the alleged negligent or fraudulent representation. Again, there is not a scintilla of evidence in the record that the HVAC inspector did not, in fact, say such a statement to Caldera other than the mere allegation of Appellant, which is not sufficient to withstand Summary Judgment.

Additionally, this representation would not appear be one that Appellant could argue she justifiably relied upon such a statement when one considers that Mountain Heating's statement, in terms of the inspection report, were also present. Also, there is no evidence that there is causation between this statement and Appellant's alleged pecuniary loss, again especially when one considers the HVAC report itself weighed in on Appellant's reliance. On the face of the email in evidence, Respondent Caldera clearly repeated the HVAC inspector's statement and there is no evidence that it was an independent "representation" by Caldera. Rather, she was performing her duties and reporting the information received. Appellant has failed in its burden of establishing any evidence that the representation was not made by Mountain, but rather Respondent Caldera.

In this case, there is simply no evidence presented that the broker knew the HVAC system had not been well maintained, or that such a statement was a mere fabrication by the broker. Clearly, Appellant also had access to the HVAC inspector and could have inquired into the condition or attended the inspection herself, as her statutory duty seemed to indicate was required. As such, she had equal access to this information. Or, she could have contacted the HVAC inspector herself, as she was the ultimate customer. Therefore, Summary Judgment was properly issued, and the analysis undertaken by the trial court was sufficient for finding in favor of Respondents.

III. The trial court did not err in finding Respondent Caldera was not an agent of Respondent South Market given that Appellant failed to provide any evidence of agency and relied solely on allegations contained in her Complaint.

In Appellant's Motion to Reconsider and during oral arguments for the Summary Judgment Motion, Appellant raises the issues of the ability of a release to be prospective; the inability of a party to be released from their own negligence; the standard of review for summary judgment; and the right to a jury trial for the indemnity clause. The argument that Respondent South Market was Respondent Caldera's principal was not raised and therefore abandoned. Respondent South Market avers this issue is not preserved for appeal.

If not deemed abandoned, Respondent South Market would aver that, based upon the foregoing, the Court properly held that there was no liability of Respondent Caldera, and therefore, the issue of agency and vicarious liability are deemed moot.

Generally, agency is a question of fact. *Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket*, 282 S.C. 220 (Ct.App.1984). Agency may be implied or inferred and may be proved circumstantially by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal. *Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 240 (1982); see also *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 244 (S.C.App.,1996). To assert agency as a basis of liability requires

that the appellant prove a scintilla of fact the supports the existence of such agency. Ultimately, agency has to be clearly established by the facts. *Fraiser* at 244. In dealing with the agent, it is up to the appellant to determine the scope of authority the agent has. *Id.* “The doctrine of apparent authority provides that the principal is bound by acts of his agent when he has placed the agent in such a position that a person of ordinary prudence, reasonably familiar with business usages and custom, is led to believe the agent has certain authority and in turn deals with the agent based on that assumption.” *Id.*

First, the two instances of Respondent Caldera using any semblance of Respondent’s South Market logo or letterhead cannot be interpreted in a vacuum and must consider be considered as a person of ordinary prudence, and reasonably familiar with the business customs of the residential real estate industry. The Court received an Affidavit of Tonya Graves, the principal of Respondent South Market, wherein it clearly indicated Respondent Caldera was not an employer of Respondent South Market. Rather, the relationship between the two was that of “standard independent contractor licensed sales agent and compensated through a 1099, and not a W2.”

Ms. Graves’ affidavit references these customs in the residential real estate industry and established that Respondent Caldera was in such customary position and not an employee-agent of Respondent South Market. Discussions were also held at the hearing about common practices in the real estate industry of licensees not being the agents of the brokers. Also, such activity is specifically regulated by the South Market Carolina Real Estate Commission, wherein the brokers in charge only have limited supervisory obligations. Further, South Market retained the information relating to this transaction only as Broker in Charge and the fiduciary over deposited funds, not as supervising Respondent Caldera. A reasonably prudent person familiar with the real estate industry, as well as the limitation denoted in the release would clearly support the Court’s holding that there was an independent contractor relationship, and not one of agency.

A purported principal must *consciously or impliedly represented* another to be his agent.” (emphasis added)). *Froneberger* at 47-48. Further, apparent authority *must be established based upon the manifestations of the principal, not the agent. Id.* Appellant has not established any evidence of a manifestation of Respondent South Market that supports a finding of agency. In fact, the opposite has been established in the clear notation that Respondent Caldera signed the release only as a licensee and not an agent. The only other evidence proffered by Appellant is the email. Although the signature block indicates Respondent Caldera was associated with Respondent South Market, it was sent from a Yahoo account, and not an email provided by Respondent South Market. Further, such email denotes Respondent Caldera’s web URL as <http://www.demetracaldera.com>. This fails to support any evidence that Respondent South Market has done any implicit or conscious act to allow Respondent Caldera to proffer herself as Respondent South Market’s agent.

As additional evidence, brokers are generally not liable for a realtor’s actions the way an employer of an employee would be. *See S.C. Code §40-57-30 et. seq.* There is a statutory scheme in place that directly defines and determines the relationship between a real estate “agent” and the Broker-in-Charge. *Id.* IRS Publication 15-a provides further description of this relationship and establish that if there is no behavioral control, no implements of work or benefits or other elements of common law employment. Further, Ms. Graves also indicates that Respondent South Market merely provided “Broker in Charged (sic) services only, which again, is standard throughout the residential real estate industry.”

IV. Appellant is not entitled to a jury trial for determination of the indemnification amount because the remedy is equitable in nature and not subject to a jury trial.

It is pervasively know that equitable relief is not subject to a jury trial, even if legal relief was initially requested. *Loyola Federal Savings Bank v. Thomasson Properties*, 318 S.C 92 (Ct. App. 1995), (*negative treatment by the California Appellate Court in Martin v. County of Los*

Angeles, 59 Cal. Rptr.2d 303 (1996)). Appellant raises a U.S. Constitutional right to jury trial; however, this is first raised in Appellant’s brief and was not raised at the Summary Judgment hearing or the Motion to Reconsider. As such, the issue is not preserved. To the extent that this Court determines that the issue is ripe, the law clearly indicates that equitable relief is an exception to a right to jury trial.

The *Loyola* court reversed a trial courts failure to strike a jury trial request for a determination of indemnification amount. *Id.* at 92-93. The appellant was seeking indemnity from a co-defendant and the respondent requested a jury trial. Appellant moved to strike, and the trial court denied the appellants motion. *Id.* The appellate court held that “[i]f the claim is equitable, there is no right to a jury trial.” *Id.* citing *Defender Properties, Inc. v. Doby*, 307 S.C. 336 (1992). The court reasoned that indemnity was a remedy that arose out of a contract or by “operation of law as a matter of equity.” *Id.* citing *Campbell v. Beacon Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 451 (Ct. Appt. 1993). The appellate court discounted respondent’s argument that he was entitled a jury trial because the underlying action was legal in nature.

As determined in the *Loyola* case and cases before it, indemnity is an equitable action not subject to jury trial requirements. The issue of entitlement to a jury trial does not even arise in this instance. The Appellant is afforded an opportunity to defend herself as required by Article 1, Section 3 of South Carolina’s Constitution requiring due process of law prior to deprivation of life, liberty, or property. The damages hearing would be Appellant’s due process. But to the extent that Appellant also argues entitlement to a jury trial based on the Seventh Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, Appellant is seeking to upend a wealth of case law and years of precedent on an issue not properly before the Court.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has failed to show that the granting of summary judgment by the trial court was improper. The case law relied on Appellant in contesting the Disclaimer is inapplicable as Appellant has confused releases associated with settlement agreements with those executed in anticipation of a transaction. Further, Appellant has failed to show any fact tending to support bad faith, a misrepresentation or fraud on the part of Caldera relating to any representations. Appellant relies only on her allegations alone to support the contention that Respondent South Market and Respondent Caldera were agent/principal while failing to acknowledge clear limitations of authority in the Release and failing to show any implicit or overt act of Respondent South Market supporting a finding of agency. Finally, Appellant tries to raise a claim for jury trial for an equitable remedy where no right to a jury trial exists. Even if properly raised and preserved on appeal, the trial court properly concluded that summary judgment was appropriate, and that Respondents are entitled to an award of indemnification. The Order granting Summary Judgment should be upheld.

Palmetto State Law Group, LLC